1965

## Thomas Eager v. Michael Willis and Charles Willis : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for personal injuries arising from a pedestrian auto collision at the intersection of 300 West and Highway 91 in St. George, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On a jury verdict, the lower court entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants in the amount of \$10,000.00.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants seek a reversal of the judgment in favor of the plaintiff and a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

The accident happened at about 8:25 a.m. on April 9, 1964 (Tr. 22) at the intersection of 100 North and 300 West in St. George, Utah. 100 North is Highway 91 in St. George, Utah. Highway 91 is approximately 67 feet 3 inches wide, (Tr. 26) and there is a double yellow line separating east and west bound traffic. Highway 91 is marked for four-lane traffic.

The sun was shining from the east and, according to the defendant driver and to Officer Hutchings, who investigated the accident, it created a problem when you were traveling east on Highway 91 (Tr. 28). Highway 91 was posted for a 30-mile speed limit (Tr. 28).

There are crosswalks, across Highway 91, on the east and west side of 300 West. The crosswalk on the east side of 300 West is approximately 10 feet wide (Tr. 26). West of the intersection in front of the O. K. Welders, there is a sign saying "School Crossing", and Exhibit D-3 depicts the area.

At the time of the accident, the plaintiff was acting as a traffic guard policeman and the defendant, Michael Willis, was driving an automobile east on Highway 91 on his way to Dixie College where he was a student. Michael Willis was driving at a speed of about 20 to 25 miles per hour, (Tr. 61) and was driving almost directly into the sun (Tr. 62). He was in the inside eastbound traffic lane (Tr. 61). When

Mr. Willis first saw Mr. Eager, he and a little girl (Jane Cannon) were right in front of him (Tr. 62). He immediately applied his brakes and stopped his car with part of the vehicle in the crosswalk. Mr. Willis saw Mr. Eager about a second before the collision (Tr. 68). Just immediately prior to the accident, Mr. Willis had glanced to the north side of the street and had observed some friends and waved.

Mr. Eager, the plaintiff, went to work at about 8:30 in the morning as a traffic guard. On the morning of April 9, 1964, he arrived and turned on the light in the school crossing sign facing east-bound traffic (Tr. 33). When he reached the north-east corner of the intersection, he saw a little girl standing and took her hand to cross Highway 91 to walk south across 91 in the east crosswalk at 3rd West. As Mr. Eager started to cross Highway 91, there was no traffic approaching from the east, and no traffic was moving north or south on 300 West (Tr. 50). The only car he observed approaching the area was the vehicle driven by Mr. Willis, which was down near the O. K. Welders sign on Highway 91 (Tr. 49). Mr. Willis was driving east, south of the center of the street. (Tr. 51) When Mr. Eager got in the center of the street, he let loose of Jane Cannon's hand and waved with both hands at Mr. Willis to stop. He did not recall saying anything to Jane Cannon and did not make any effort to step back or stay in the west-bound traffic lanes. As he kept waving to Mr. Willis, he observed that he was not seen, and at that moment,

noticed that Jane Cannon had continued to walk southward across the street. He jumped out abruptly to reach her (Tr. 52), and before he could return to the north side of the center of the street, the accident occurred (Tr. 52). Mr. Eager testified that he saw Mr. Willis looking to his left and that he watched him for maybe two seconds, and at that time he could see Mr. Willis did not see him. Mr. Eager abruptly stepped in front of the only car on either street when he observed the driver was not watching in his direction (Tr. 51).

Exhibit P-2 shows that Mr. Thomas Eager was hospitalized from April 9th to and including April 14th. His total hospital bill was \$119.70 and in addition to that he had a doctor's bill from Dr. McLaren Ruesch. It was stipulated by the defendant that the fair and reasonable value of the medical services, including doctor and hospital bill was \$252.70. At the time of the accident, the plaintiff was working as a crossing guard, and was receiving \$100.00 a month as wages. In the accident, his left fibula was broken near the lower end, and his doctor testified that he had post-traumatic arthritis. After the accident, he was bothered some by pain, but testified that at the time of the trial, he was sleeping fairly good and that he was not taking any drugs such as aspirin or bufferin for pain. He has not received any medical treatment subsequent to June of 1964 (Tr. 58). Mr Eager testified he took no medication for pain, because aspirin and bufferin both-

ered him, but he testified that while in the hospital, he was given a sleeping pill and that didn't bother him in any way (Tr. 40). Dr. Ruesch testified the fibula was well-healed and every bit as strong at the time of the trial, as before the accident (Tr. 19). He indicated that the arthritis would not keep him from walking around the house and so on, but that it would prohibit prolonged walking.

The Complaint, (R. 1) alleges that the defendant driver was careless and negligent in the manner in which he operated his motor vehicle, and that the plaintiff's injuries were proximately caused by said negligence and carelessness (R. 2). The defendants, in their Answer, denied negligence and affirmatively, as a defense, alleged the accident was solely or proximately caused by the plaintiff's own negligence, (R. 4).

The plaintiff gave four requested instructions on damages, and gave no requests on negligence or contributory negligence (R. 26, 31). The defendants requested 17 instructions, all of which were stock instructions from JIFU, in whole or in part, except two. The court gave 31 instructions.

In Instruction No. 1, the court instructed the defendant has admitted the accident but denies the plaintiff's claimed injuries and affirmatively alleges that the accident was solely caused or proximately contributed to by the plaintiff's own negligence (R. 33). This instruction was excepted to upon the

ground it failed to show the defendant denied negligence (Tr. 83).

The court gave Instruction No. 9. It was excepted to upon the grounds there was no evidence of speed on the part of the defendant driver (Tr. 83), and that further, the last sentence of the instruction was incorrect, in that it invited the jurors to weigh the damages before considering the question of contributory negligence (Tr. 84).

In Instruction No. 12, the court gave its instructions on damages (R. 44), and this instruction was excepted to (Tr. 84), on the ground that the instruction on damages should have been given at the end of the charge, and prior to instructions on liability issues.

In Instruction No. 15, the court instructed the driver of a motor vehicle has the duty to observe and comply with the lawful order and direction of any police officer invested by law, with authority to direct, control and regulate traffic (R. 48). This mandatory instruction was excepted to upon the ground that the driver of an automobile has only the duty to observe and comply with the lawful orders and directions of police officers, if in the exercise of ordinary care, the driver could see and have a reasonable opportunity to obey, and that the instruction was prejudicially erroneous, because it placed an absolute duty to obey upon the part of the defendant, without opportunity to do so.

In Instruction No. 17, the court instructed it is the duty of a driver of an automobile to yield the right of way to a pedestrian crossing the roadway within a marked crosswalk, and that failure to so yield the right of way to a pedestrian in any such crosswalk, constitutes negligence (R. 50). This instruction was objected to as being highly prejudicial (Tr. 86) on the grounds that in this instruction, the court was directing negligence against the defendant and that the instruction was not proper under the facts of this case, as the evidence showed the plaintiff abruptly stepped into the path of the defendant's vehicle at a time when the defendant's car was so close that there was no opportunity for him to yield the right of way, and at a time when it was impossible for the defendant to yield the right of way to the plaintiff.

In plaintiff's closing argument, counsel for the plaintiff told the jury they were not to consider whether or not the defendant was able to pay, (Tr. 81) and reminded the jurors that he wanted them to put themselves in the position of the plaintiff in evaluating the evidence. Plaintiff's counsel said:

“The amounts are the lack of enjoyment of things that he has enjoyed before and cannot do, do now on account of the injuries sustained by the admitted negligence of the defendant; I feel you're entitled, Gentlemen of the Jury, to figure yourself in somewhat of the situation of the —

MR. BERRY: I object to this as improper type of argument, asking the jury to consider themselves in the situation of the plaintiff. That is asking for sympathy and passion and is not proper.

THE COURT: Well, I have already instructed the Jury what counsel says is not evidence. It is merely argument. As to its propriety, I'm uncertain. Go ahead, Mr. Pickett." (Tr. 78, Tr. 79)

The amount of the verdict was the amount of the defendant's insurance, \$10,000.00.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED PREJUDICIALLY IN STATING THE ISSUES IN INSTRUCTION NO. 1

The plaintiff, in his Complaint, alleged negligence, and the defendant, in his Answer, denied negligence. There was no Pre-trial Order. The first issue upon which the plaintiff should have had the burden of proof: Was the defendant driver negligent?

However, Instruction No. 1 relieved the plaintiff of proving negligence on the part of the defendant as an issue. Instruction No. 1 read as follows:

"Instruction No 1 — You are instructed that this is an action brought by the plaintiff to recover from the defendant for injuries allegedly received by the plaintiff as the result of a collision between the plaintiff as a pedes-

trian school crosswalk patrolman who was escorting a school child across Highway 91 at Third West Street in St. George, Utah, on April 9, 1964, and the defendant who was at such time and place operating a motor vehicle.

The plaintiff claims injuries to his person, pain and suffering and loss of earnings, all to a total claim in the sum of \$25,000 and for expenses incurred for hospitalization and medical treatment in the sum of \$252.70.

*The defendant has admitted the accident, but denies the plaintiff's claimed injuries and affirmatively alleges that the accident was solely caused or proximately contributed to by the plaintiff's own negligence."* (R. 33) (Emphasis Added)

The objection is to the part of Instruction No. 1 *underlined* in last sentence. It releases the plaintiff from proving negligence and states the defendant's only defense is the affirmative defense of contributory negligence. Instruction No. 1 did not contain the usual cautionary phrase that the instruction is only a statement of the claims of the parties, and not evidence, and thus, the jurors are entitled to treat this instruction as stating more than merely issues or contentions of parties. This instruction gave plaintiff's counsel an advantage, unfairly, in arguing the case during closing argument. Plaintiff's counsel told the jury the defendant admitted negligence (Tr. 78).

Why shouldn't the plaintiffs' counsel have argued the case to the jury as he did in view of this instruction. There is no reason to undertake the

burden of proving an issue the court indicates your client need not prove. The jury probably treated Instruction No. 1 as freeing the plaintiff from proving negligence. However, at best, they could have treated the instruction as merely a requirement on the part of the defendant to prove he was not negligent. This, of course, is not the law.

The issues of negligence was material. The defendant driver was driving into the sun which obscured his vision. When the accident happened, there was no traffic on Highway 91, or in the area approaching the intersection on 300 West. The plaintiff started to cross the street with a little girl, Jane Cannon, walking between her and the defendant's car. Mr. Eager let loose of her hand when he approached double yellow line dividing east and west-bound traffic on Highway 91, and endeavored to signal the defendant driver to slow or stop. After he observed the defendant driver for some two seconds and saw that he was not seen, he then jumped into the path of the defendant's vehicle abruptly to reach the child which had proceeded ahead. The posted speed limit in the area was 30 miles an hour; the defendant said he was going 20 to 25 miles per hour. He stopped his car in the crosswalk where the accident occurred, and the investigating police officer, Mr. Hutchings, agreed there was no evidence of speed on the part of the defendant driver.

Instruction No. 9 (R. 41) does not cure the error

complained of in Instruction No. 1 because it fails to tell the jury the burden is upon the plaintiff to prove negligence by a preponderance of the evidence. At best, Instruction No. 9 presents a conflict between two instructions. Instruction No. 4 (R. 36) does not correct the prejudicial error, because no burden of proving negligence was placed on the plaintiff by the virtue of giving Instruction No. 1.

Nor does Instruction No. 11 rectify the prejudicial error, because it became unnecessary to claim the defendant was negligent by virtue of the giving of Instruction No. 1.

In summary, it is submitted it was prejudicial error to fail to advise the jury the defendant denied negligence and that burden of proof on this point, was upon the plaintiff.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN STATING THE DUTIES OWED TO PLAINTIFF. NO. 17.

Although it seems probable the issue of negligence was eliminated in the lawsuit by the giving of Instruction No. 1, it appears the court further hid the issue of negligence in the lawsuit by giving Instructions No. 15 and No. 17. Effectively, these instructions directed negligence against the defendant, although the court did not rule as a matter of law, the defendant was negligent.

Instruction No. 15 reads as follows:

“The driver of a motor vehicle has the duty to observe and comply with the lawful order and direction of *any police officer* invested by law with the authority to direct, control, and regulate traffic.” (I. 48)

Instruction No. 17 reads as follows:

“It is the duty of the driver of an automobile to yield the right of way to a pedestrian crossing the roadway within a marked crosswalk. Failure to do so yield the right of way to a pedestrian in any such crosswalk constitutes negligence.” (R. 50)

Instruction No. 15 was a misstatement of the law, as applied to the facts of this case, because it indicates the driver of a motor vehicle owes an absolute duty to observe and comply with the lawful orders and directions of the police officer. At the time, exceptions were taken to this instruction, the court said it was copied from the State Statutes, (Tr. 86). The court was referring to Section 41-6-13, Utah Code Annotated 1953, and that statute reads as follows:

“Obedience to police officer — No person shall *wilfully* fail or refuse to comply with any lawful order or direction of any police officer invested by law with authority to direct, control or regulate traffic”. (Emphasis added)

Since the statute refers to a wilful act, it is hard to see how it is authority for the propositions stated in Instruction No. 15 where the word “wilfully” was excluded.

In Charvoz vs. Cottrell (1961) 12 U. 2d 25, 361 P. 2d 516, our court said:

“The defendant testified that when he first saw the decedent, the latter was in the crosswalk approaching the dividing line of 17th South. He immediately applied his brakes, but could not stop in time to avoid hitting the deceased. He also testified that the decedent, after being first observed, walked some six feet or more across the dividing line and into the defendant’s line of traffic Plaintiff contends that deceased had the legal right of way and therefore, defendant was negligent as a matter of law. *It is well settled that statutes or ordinances giving pedestrians the right of way at street crossings create a preferential, but not an absolute right in their favor. Before the duty of a driver to yield the right of way arises, he must be in a situation whereby he is either aware of the presence of a pedestrian within the crosswalk, or should have, in the exercise of ordinary care, become aware of the pedestrian’s presence in time to yield the right of way*”. (Emphasis added)

In the Louisville Railroad Company vs. Offutt’s Administratrix (1932), 55 S.W. 2d 391, 246 Ky. 508, where the question of striking a pedestrian police officer was presented, the court said the bus driver owed the traffic officer the same duty as regards warning, lookout and speed as owed to other ordinary pedestrians.

It is the appellant’s contention that the driver of a motor vehicle has the duty to yield the right of way

to a pedestrian, but only when he is in a situation where he is aware of the presence of the pedestrian within the crosswalk, or should have been aware, in the exercise of ordinary care, of the pedestrian's presence in time to yield the right of way.

The question of the defendant driver's duty to yield the right of way should have been decided by the jury and not by the court, because the evidence showed the defendant driver was driving into the sun which obstructed his vision, and further showed that the plaintiff abruptly jumped into the path of the defendant's vehicle when it was so close as to make it impossible for the defendant, Mr. Willis, to yield.

This instruction was clearly in conflict with Instruction No. 16 which was a correct statement of the law as to the duty to yield the right of way to a pedestrian in a crosswalk. Instruction No. 17 further unbalances the charge in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant driver, Mr. Willis.

No claim was made that Mr. Eager, the plaintiff, was not in the crosswalk. Mr. Willis, the defendant, admitted he was in the crosswalk, and it was admitted by the plaintiff that he jumped abruptly into the path of Mr Willis' vehicle. Under the facts of this case, the giving of this instruction had a further prejudicial effect in directing negligence against the defendant driver, and again, this instruction was

in conflict with Instruction No. 16, which was a correct statement of the law.

In *Coombs vs. Perry* (1954), 2 U. 2d 381, 275 P. 2d 680, where a pedestrian was struck in the evening twilight in a crosswalk in an accident in Ogden, and where the defendant driver testified he had not seen her before striking her, the court said the question of the driver's negligence in keeping a proper lookout for the pedestrian in the crosswalk and in affording her the right of way to which she was entitled, was for the jury to decide. Where vision is obscured it is jury question as to the negligence of the defendant driver in failing to keep a proper lookout, or in failing to see a pedestrian in a crosswalk. Instruction No. 16 (R. 49) was a proper statement of the duty owed to the plaintiff by the defendant driver, Mr. Willis. However, it is surely certain this instruction was in conflict with Instructions No. 15 and 17 and was sandwiched in-between in the charge.

It appears the rule of law in Utah is that if the court gives conflicting instructions on a material point of law, it will be presumed prejudicial error was committed by the lower court.

In *Sorenson vs. Bell* (1917), 107 P. 72, 51 U. 262, the court reversed a verdict for the defendant where erroneous instructions on the burden of proof were given in charge. In *Sorenson vs. Bell*, supra, the court said:

“\*\*\*True, counsel point to other portions of the charge wherein they contend the rule respecting the burden of proof is correctly stated . If that be conceded, it still does not minimize, much less cure, the probable error contained in the foregoing instruction. At most, it would merely present a case of where two instructions were given on the same subject, one proper and the other improper. Where such is the case and the evidence is conflicting upon the subject covered by the instructions or is such that more than one conclusion is permissible, and the record leaves it in doubt whether the jury followed the instruction that is proper or the one that was improper, then but one result is legally permissible in this court, and that is to reverse the judgment and grant a new trial to the aggrieved party\*\*\*.”

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