1965

## Thomas Eager v. Michael Willis and Charles Willis : Respondent's Brief

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN STATING THE ISSUES IN INSTRUCTION NO.1.

Instruction No. 1 as complained of by counsel for defendant states the nature

of the case, the relief sought by the plaintiff and the position of the defendant in admitting the accident but denying plaintiff's injuries and stating defendant's position in alleging that the accident was solely caused or proximately contributed to by the plaintiff's own negligence.

It is submitted that the interpretation read into Instruction No. 1 by defendants counsel is strained and certainly not justified in view of further instructions, to-wit, Instruction No. 4 which reads as follows:

"The party upon whom the burden of proof rests, must sustain it by a preponderance of the evidence. The law does not permit you to base a verdict on speculation or conjecture as to the cause of the incident in question. If the evidence does not preponderate in favor of the plaintiff, making the charge of negligence, then he has failed to fulfill his burden of proof and your finding must be against him on that issue. In other words, if after considering all the evidence, it should appear to you just as probable that the

defendant driver was not negligent, as that he was, or that his negligence, if any, was not a proximate cause of the incident as that it was such a proximate cause, then a case has not been established against the defendant driver by a preponderance of the evidence as the law requires and the defendant driver cannot be held liable." (Emphasis added).

The above instruction, particularly the part emphasized clearly states where the burden of proof is in the present matter and the duty of the jury with respect to considering all of the evidence to determine the preponderance of the same either for the plaintiff in his allegations or defendants in their denials.

It is submitted that if the Court had included all of the points suggested by defendant in Instruction No. 1 it would have been confusing and it is further submitted that it is the Court's duty to fully cover all of the matters before the Court in the instructions, which the Court did fairly and plainly. They are sum-

marized in Instruction No. 29 in the following words:

"If in these instructions any rule, direction, or idea be stated in varying ways, no emphasis thereon is intended by me, and not should be inferred by you. For that reason, you are not to single out any certain sentence or any individual point or instruction and ignore the others, but you are to consider all the instructions as a whole and are to regard each in the light of all the others.

The order in which the instructions are given has no significance as to their relative importance." (Emphasis added.)

#### POINT NO. II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN STATING THE DUTIES OWED TO PLAINTIFF.

Defendants argue that the giving of Instructions No. 15 and 17 in effect directed that the defendant was negligent although the Court did not rule that the defendant was negligent as a matter of law.

Defendant cites Charvoz vs. Cottrell (1961) 12 U. 2d 25, 361 P. 2d 516 in which case the plaintiff contended that the de-

ceased had the right of way in a crosswalk and therefore the defendant was negligent as a matter of law. The facts in that case show that the defendant was traveling in an automobile at approximately 30 miles per hour as he approached an intersection; that his headlights were on low beam, that he did not see the deceased until he was about 60 to 65 feet from the point of impact. He applied brakes but was unable to stop the car in time to avoid hitting the deceased. The plaintiff contended that defendant should have observed the deceased at least 100 feet from the crosswalk, therefore the defendant was negligent in failing to keep a proper lookout.

To this point the Court states as follows:

"This reasoning, however, overlooks certain other pertinent facts. It was

dark at the time of the accident; the street had a blacktop surface; the intersection was only dimly illuminated; the backdrop, as seen from defendant's automobile, was a dark vacant lot on the northeast corner of the intersection; there was a car stopped on the north side of the intersection with its lights burning; and the decedent was wearing dark clothing. Therefore, although the evidence is undisputed that the defendant could have stopped his car in time to avoid the accident had he seen the deceased at a distance of 100 feet, the circumstances are such as to create a doubt in the minds of reasonable men as to defendant's ability to observe the decedent at that distance and hence the issue of failure to keep a proper lookout was for the jury."

The Court further holds in said case that:

"Before the duty of a driver to yield the right of way arises he must be in a situation whereby he is either aware of the presence of a pedestrian within the crosswalk or should have, in the exercise of reasonable care, become aware of the pedestrian's presence in time to yield the right of way."

We will agree with defendant's contention beginning second line from bottom of Page 13 of his brief and continuing on Page 14 as follows:

"that the driver of the motor vehicle had the duty to yield the right of way to a pedestrian, but only when he is in a situation where he is aware of the presence of the pedestrian within the crosswalk, or should have been aware, in the exercise of ordinary care, of the pedestrians presence in time to yield the right of way."

And it is plaintiff's contention that by the exercise of ordinary care plaintiff's presence in the crosswalk could have been observed by defendant in ample time to have yielded the right of way.

This position is based on the following reasons:

- a. The defendant knew the location of the school crossing because he had traveled the route many, many times during the school year.
- b. He knew and had observed the signs indicating the school crossing many times.
- c. After making a turn heading east along the highway towards said school crossing he noticed the sun on the windshield, he had noticed it many times, but it did not irritate him. His car was equipped with visors but he did not use them.

d. When he approached the intersection he looked to the side to greet some friends and when he again looked toward the roadway the plaintiff and the little Cannon girl were right in his path and he could not stop.

Certainly with ordinary care he could have observed the officer in uniform with the little girl by his side, holding up his hands and trying to get his attention to stop, and even after he entered the intersection, if he had not been looking to the side and greeting friends, he could have observed plaintiff and little girl in time to have yielded the right of way.

We further agree with defendant's counsel in his statement in his brief on Page 19 as follows:

"If you assumed the defendant driver had no excuse for not seeing or not yielding to the pedestrian, Instruction No. 17 certainly would be proper."

It is submitted that the plaintiff was not negligent in jumping in the pathway of the automobile as admitted because in

his attempt to stop the defendant he had let go of the little Cannon girl's hand and he was using both of his hands to attract the attention of the defendant to yield the right of way and the little girl had stepped across the center of the highway and was in the immediate path of the automobile which was at that time only a few feet away. He did everthing that a human being could do to try and save the little girl and as a result both he and the little girl received severe injuries.

It is submitted that under the facts above shown in the evidence Instructions #15 and #17 are not a mis-statement of the law nor are they inconsistent with each other or with any of the other instructions given.

#### POINT NO. III

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 9.

It is submitted that defendants contention that the Court committed three prejudicial errors in giving Instruction No. 9 is not well taken because No. 9 should be considered with No. 10 which is as follows:

"Even though you find in favor of the plaintiff, and that the defendant was negligent, the plaintiff nevertheless may be barred from recovery by contributory negligence. Before contributory negligence would preclude plaintiff's recovery, you must find from a preponderance of the evidence, that each of the two following propositions are true:

Proposition No. 1

That the plaintiff was negligent in one or more of the following particulars:

- a. That the plaintiff failed to observe the danger involved.
- b. Plaintiff left a place of safety and moved into the path of a vehicle, when the vehicle was so close that it was impossible for the driver to yield the right of way.

Proposition No. 2

That said negligence of the plaintiff, if any, was a proximate and contribut-

ing cause of the accident. If you find these two propositions against the plaintiff, he cannot recover, even though you find in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant on the issue of negligence of the defendant."

Both Instructions #9 and #10 should be considered with Instruction #29 which states specifically:

"you are not to single out any certain sentence or any individual point or instruction and ignore the others, but you are to consider all the instructions as a whole and are to regard each in the light of all the others."

It is submitted that under Instruction No. 9 the jurors did find that the defendant was negligent in either or both of point 'a' in driving too fast for existing conditions or, point 'b' in failing to keep a proper lookout for pedestrians in the crosswalk.

Defendant argues that the defendant was blinded by the sun therefore could not see. If such was the case then he was certainly driving too fast for existing

conditions at 20 or 25 miles per hour in a 30 mile posted zone. If the sun was a factor in obscuring his vision and view, then he ignored the same, drove along at the same speed without regard to pedestrians in the school crossing.

If the sun was not a factor that he need consider then his early morning greeting to friends that took his attention away from the road ahead was certainly a failure to keep a proper lookout.

It is submitted that the jury is not obligated to designate the particular act of negligence upon which they base a decision, and defendants argument that when they did not in the present case then in all probability they found negligence upon an improper ground is specious.

#### POINT NO. IV

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN INSTRUCTING ON DAMAGES.

First let us consider whether or not the judgment rendered in the present case is excessive.

The plaintiff, although 65 years of age was in good health prior to the accident complained of. He had lived somewhat of an outdoor, rugged life. He enjoyed fishing, hunting and pine-nut gathering, which pine-nut gathering was somewhat lucrative to him in the season thereof; and during the summer season he worked at much more lucrative employment than \$100.00 per month that he was getting from the City as a Crossing Guard. All of which is now denied him on account of the injuries sustained.

He still suffered from the injury to his hand at the time of the trial. His headaches persisted at that time and his post-traumatic arthritis in the injured leg prevented the outdoor activities that he had enjoyed and profited from for so

many years prior to said injuries.

His headaches and suffering from injured hand and post-traumatic arthritis should not be minimized because he was not taking medication "pills" as defendant calls them. He would rather suffer the pains from the injuries than the sickness and nausea from the medication which he had taken for relief but had to abandon.

It is submitted that the award of \$10,000.00 for the injuries sustained, for the suffering endured by the plaintiff for the eight months to the time of the trial, for the deprivation of activities which had helped to make his life worthwhile prior to the injury and assurance that the injuries were not just temporary but might continue for a long time and might even worsen.

POINT NO. 5

EXCESSIVE DAMAGES WERE NOT AWARDED UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF IMPROPER ARGUMENT OR FOR ANY OTHER CAUSE.

The suggestion that the award of \$10,000.00 was motivated by some section of the statute which requires that much liability insurance is wishful thinking on the part of counsel for defendant because no such suggestion was ever made in the trial of the case or in the instructions to the jury and there was no indication that any of the jurors knew that there was such a statute; but it will be admitted that most people today know that a large percentage of the owners of automobiles carry liability insurance.

It is admitted that counsel for the plaintiff felt a responsibility to present to the jury the plaintiff's case as well as possible, and if counsel wants to call zeal in the presenting of the case

"enthusiasm" or considerable enthusiasm", then counsel for the plaintiff will have to plead guilty to this so called error.

Mr. Berry as counsel for the defendant characterized as error the remark by counsel for the defendant in his address to the jury "not to consider how the defendant would pay any damages found by the jury," as a statement obviously made to remind the jurors that insurance was present. It is submitted that it is not the province of the jury to consider the financial status of the defendant in a matter of this kind, but to observe the instructions of the Court, and they would certainly be violating their oaths as officers of the Court if they attempted to assess damages due the plaintiff from the standpoint of defendant's ability to pay.

Attention is directed to the unfinished-

ed statement by counsel for plaintiff in his argument to the jury and which is referred to by counsel for defendant, Mr. Berry (Appellant's Brief page 29). It will be noted that the statement is not finished and whatever intention counsel for plaintiff might have had in beginning the statement certainly the part complained of is not prejudicial and would not have been, had not Mr. Berry in his objection finished what he thought was the intended statement of counsel in the following words:

"I object to this as improper type of argument, asking the jury to consider themselves in the situation of the plaintiff. This is asking for sympathy and passion and is not proper."

And the Court thereupon stated:

"I have already instructed the jury what counsel says is not evidence. It is merely argument. As to it's propriety I am uncertain--" (Tr.78-79).

No further reference is made to the objected matter, and no reference whatsoever is made to the "Golden Rule" and

it is therefore submitted that no error was committed by counsel in his remarks.

But if it can be held that the unfinished statement was in error and any inference that could have been drawn from it by the jury was objectionable, then the question arises, did the same so inflame the juror's prejudice or passion to the extent that they awarded unreasonable damages for the injuries proved. In other words were the damages determined by the jury excessive, we submit not.

In Am. Jur-53, 64 Cum. Supp., Sec. 496 page 401 is a notation to add the following to Note 9:

"There are many cases in which it was recognized that counsel's argument urging the jurors to place themselves in the position of a litigant, or to allow such recovery as they would wish if in the same position, was improper, but that the opposing party was not entitled to relief on the ground of prejudice, in view of the circumstances present."

Several cases are also referred to in 70 ALR 2d, 937-945. In 70 ALR 2d, page 945 Sec. 4 we find a California case referred to, DeYoung vs. Haywood reported in 292 P. 2d 917 in which the Court said:

"An action to recover for injuries sustained in an automobile accident, the Court, affirming a judgment for the plaintiff notwithstanding a statement in his attorney's argument that none of the jurors would be willing to go through such an accident for \$9,000.00, said that counsel for the plaintiff in their brief very properly did not try to justify the criticized statement, but merely contended that it was not made with any improper motive and was not prejudicial; and that certainly there was not such misconduct as would warrant a reversal of the judgment..

Quoting further from 70 ALR 2d, page 954, Note C--Verdict not excessive----

#### VERDICT NOT EXCESSIVE

"That the verdict of the jury was not excessive in amount has been a factor in a few cases in reaching a determination that although counsel's arguments urging the jurors to place themselves in the position of the litigant or to allow such recovery as they would

wish if in the same position may have been improper no prejudice resulted."

Then there are many cases listed to sustain that position. Under the same reference we find the following:

"A remark by counsel for the plaintiff to the jury, 'What would you have your wife treated for?' was improper, but was not of sufficient importance to justify a reversal of the judgment for the plaintiff where the amount of the verdict did not indicate that it seriously affected the result."

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